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This collection was started in the early 1990’s and then pretty much 
stopped in the late 1990’s.  The collection consisted of the entire state 
of Arizona.  In  June of 2006 I started to make new presentation pages 
and update the collection. 
 
 
The information for the pricing and towns in this collection come 
from Arizona Territorial Postmark Catalogue originally started by 
Dr. Sheldon H. Dike then taken over by Owen W. Kriege ph. D and 
now provided by Jewell L. Meyer.  Also used in gathering information 
is The Postal History Foundation, Will C. Barnes Arizona Place 
Names, Arizona Territory Post Offices & Postmasters, & Wells Fargo in 
Arizona Territory by John and Lillian Theobald, Railroads of Arizona 
Vol. 1, by David F. Myrick,   Ghosts and Ghost Towns, by W. J. “Jack” 
Way, Ghost Towns and Historical Haunts in Arizona, by Thelma Heat-
wole, Arizona’s Best Ghost Towns, by Philip Varney, and other books 
where I might get information.  Also included many post cards from 
Al Ring’s collection and http://www.ghosttowns.com/states/az/az.html.  
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Bold means we have some postmarks from this town.  Underline means we have one of all that towns postmarks.  Italics means there are 
no known postmarks from this town.  Red means we are actively collecting this town from these counties, Cochise, Pima and Santa Cruz. 

Ajo   Pima 
Allen   Pima 
Amadoville           Pima/Santa Cruz 
American Flag  Pima 
Apache Pass  Pima 
Arivaca   Pima 
Aztec   Pima 
Benson   Pima, Cochise 
Bisbee           Pima, Cochise 
Brownell  Pima 
Buenos Ayres  Pima 
Calabasas        Pima/Santa Cruz 
Camp Grant  Pima/Grant 
Camp Huachuca              Pima/Cochise 
Camp Thomas             Pima/Graham 
Casa Blanco  Pima 
Cerro Colorado  Pima 
Charleston             Pima/Cochise 
Contention                Pima/Cochise 
Crittenden           Pima/Santa Cruz 
Desert   Pima 
Dos Cabezos  Pima/Cochise 
El Paso   Pima 
Empire   Pima 
Empire Ranch  Pima 
Enriquita  Pima 
Escuela   Pima 
Esperanza   Pima 
Florence  Pima/Pinal 
Fort Bowie  Pima/Cochise 
Fort Grant  Pima, Graham 
Fort Lowell  Pima 
Graham   Pima 
Grant   Pima/Pinal 
Greaterville  Pima 
Greenlaw  Pima 
Gunsight  Pima 
Harshaw  Pima 
Helvetia   Pima 
Indian Oasis  Pima 
Isaacson   Pima 
Langhorne  Pima 
La Noria  Pima 
La Osa   Pima 
Lochiel   Pima 
Luttrell   Pima 
Maley   Pima 
Maricopa Wells  Pima/Pinal 
Millville   Pima/Cochise 
Monument         Pima/Santa Cruz 
Nogales          Pima/Santa Cruz 
Noonville           Pima/Santa Cruz 
Ochoaville  Pima/Cochise 
Oldglory           Pima/Santa Cruz 
 With Pima but Santa Cruz only 
Old Glory          Pima/Santa Cruz 
Olive   Pima 
 
 
 

Oro Blanco        Pima/Santa Cruz 
Pajarito   Pima 
Pantano   Pima 
Patagonia        Pima/Santa Cruz 
Pima              Pima/Graham 
Pima Village  Pima/Pinal 
Pimo Villages Dona Ana Co./Pima 
Poso Bueno  Pima 
Providence Wells  Pima 
Quijotoa   Pima 
Redington  Pima 
Rillito   Pima 
Rosemont  Pima 
Sacaton   Pima/Pinal 
Safford              Pima/Graham 
Sahuarito               Pima/Graham 
Salero   Pima 
San Caterina  Pima 
Sanford   Pima/Pinal 
San Jose   Pima 
San Pedro  Pima/Cochise 
San Rafael  Pima 
Sasabe   Pima 
Sasabi Flat  Pima 
Silverbell  Pima 
Solomonsville             Pima/Graham 
Stone Cabin  Pima 
Tanque Verde  Pima 
Terminus  Yuma; Maricopa; Pinal;  
  Pima; Cochise 
Tombstone              Pima/Cochise 
Total Wreck  Pima 
Tres Alamos  Pima/Cochise 
Tubac   Dona Ana/Pima/Santa Cruz 
Tucson                          Dona Ana/Pima 
Tully   Pima 
Twin Buttes  Pima 
Vail   Pima 
Washington       Pima/Santa Cruz 
Weldon   Pima 
Wilcox               Pima/Cochise 
Wood   Pima 
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PIMA COUNTY 

http://www.ghosttowns.com/states/az/azpima.html 



 FLORENCE    

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Florence – Pima Co.   (1869-1875); Pinal Co. (1875-present)  
        
1 C1bA1BBR26½ 
1A EX (W. F.)  TC 
2 EX (W. F.) 
3 CleS1B31 
4 CleS1B31 
5 CleS1B33 
6 C1bN1B27 
7 C1bN1B27½ 
8 C1bN1B27 
9 C1bT1B28 

Florence  Pima County  G. L. O. Map, 1909.  
 Elevation 1, 493 feet.  One of the firs settlements in Pinal county.  County seat.  Levi Rug-
gles settled here, 1866 , as Indian Agent.  Elliot says:  “Charles G. Mason built the first house,  
1866.  Town named by Governor Safford in honor of his sister, Florence.”  Hinton says:  “Regular 
stages leave here for Silver City, Pioneer, Glove, San Carlos, Camp Apache; also East Phoenix; 
Wickenburg and Prescott.”   

10 C1bT1B27½ 
11 C1bT1B29 
12 C1bT1B30 
13 C1b´16T1B29 
14 C1bT1B29 
14A C31b´15N1B28 
15 C1bT1B30 
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 FLORENCE    

George A. Brown, P. M. 1877-1904 Post Masters 
 
Thomas R. Ewing  Aug. 19, 1869 
Joseph Collingwood  Jan. 16, 1871 
George Adelbert Brown  1877-1904 W. F.  
Joseph Guindani   Oct. 31, 1878 
Joseph Collingwood  Nov. 12, 1878 
William E. Guild    Dec. 27, 1880 
Fred R. Kittle   May 11, 1885 
John Miller   Oct. 27, 1885 
Oliver H. Carpenter  Dec. 7, 1889 
Fannie Bartleson   May 1, 1894 
Emma J. Bates   April 11, 1898 
Charles H. Niemeyer, Jr.  March 14, 1899 
H. H. Heaston   1904-1905 W. F. 
H. W. Dodge   1906-1907 W. F. 
Gertrude A. Pendleton  Sept. 12, 1907 
L. M. Hughes   1908 W. F. 
Frank Moulton Cobb  1908 W. F. 
W. E. Garver   1909-1910 W. F. 
Ella G. Clarke   Jan. 21, 1910 
J. E. DeSouza   1910-1912 W. F. 
W. D. Lindsay   1912 W. F.  

1891, Pinal County Court House, Florence, AZ. 
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 FORT BOWIE    

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Fort Bowie – Pima/Cochise Co.  (1880-1881); Cochise Co. 
(1881-1894) 
        
1 Cle11N1B27½ 
2 C1b1RRB26½ 
3 CleN1B29 
3A CleN1B32½ 
4 C1bT1B28 
5 C1b´16T1B27 
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Fort Bowie  Pima/Cochise County Map, Coronado N. F., 1931.    
 In T. 15 S., R. 28 E. Fort Bowie, or Camp Bowie, located in Apache pass, north end Chiri-
cahua mountains. One of the earliest military posts in Arizona. Located about 14 miles south-east 
of Bowie B. B. station. Named for Col. George W. Bowie, Fifth California Infantry Volunteers. 
Many Indian fights took place here and it was one of the most dangerous and dreaded parts of the 
stage road. When the railroad was built in 1881 it lost its importance. 
 “Fort Bowie with its gruesome graveyard filled with such inscriptions as ‘Killed by 
Apaches’; ‘Met his death at the hands of Apaches’; and again ‘Tortured to death by Apaches.’ 
One visit to that graveyard was guaranteed to furnish the most callous with nightmares for a 
month.” Bourke. 
 In 1872 Gen. Crook placed the Chiricahua-Apaches on a reser-vation west of the fort, 
where they remained until 1876, when John P. Clum moved them to San Carlos. 
 See McClintock’s History of Arizona for full history of this post. Heitman’s List says it 
was established July 28, 1862. 

Post Masters 
 
Sidney R. DeLong June 22, 1880 
Mary Lutz  March 5, 1890 
Charles Yeager  1892 
 Discontinued Nov. 30, 1894 
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 FORT GRANT    

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Fort Grant – Pima Co.  (1879 –1881); Graham Co. (1881—
1905) 
        
1 C1e11N1RBB28 
2 C21eN1RRB28 
3 C1bN1B26½ 
4 C1bN1B26½ 
5 C2bN1RRB28 
6 C1bS1BRR30 
7 C1bN1B27½ 
8 C1bS1RRB29½ 
9 C1bT2B27 
10 C1bT2B27 
11 C1bT1B29 
12 C1b´16T1B29 
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Fort Grant  Cochise County     
 Elevation 5000 feet.  Came from Old Camp Grant.  First post office August 19, 1869, 
George Cox P.M. 

 

 

Post Masters 
 
Frank V. Newman  June 23, 1879 
Henry A. Morgan   March 28, 1881 
Ed H. Lynes   Nov. 28, 1883 
Frank A. Morgan   Sept. 24, 1885 
Alfred C. Sheen   May 4, 1888 
 (order rescinded)  June 5, 1891 
Thomas L. Henderson  Oct. 22, 1891 
Edward P. McMullen  May 11, 1894 
Mollie E. LeMay   Oct. 4, 1895 
O. P. Chaffee 
 (order rescinded)  Dec. 6, 1895 
Mollie E. LeMay   Oct. 4, 1895 
Susie M. Heurich   July 26, 1900 
 Discontinued  Oct. 31, 1905 
 Mail to Bonita 
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 GREATERVILLE   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Greaterville – Pima Co.  (1879—1946) 
        
1 C41aN1B27½ 
2 C1eS1B30 
3 C31bN1RRB33 
4 C1bN1B27 
5 C1bn1B28 
6 4-Bar 
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 Greaterville  Pima County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1923.    

 In sec. 19, T. 19 5., R. 16 E. Coronado N. F. Named after Greater, early settler. Called 
Santa Rita in 1873. Ed Vail says that about 1880 a group of his cowboys went over here to a 
dance. They were drunk and the local people refused to admit them. They withdrew to discuss the 
situation. House in which dance was held was an adobe with dirt roof. It was winter and cold. A 
man climbed to roof and dropped a handful of six-shooter cartridges down the chimney into the 
blazing fire. This ended the dance. P. 0. established Jan. 3, 1879, Thomas Steele, P.M. 
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Post Masters 

 
Thomas Steele  Jan. 3, 1879 
Sam Katzenstein  March 24, 1879 
 Discontinued Aug. 4, 1880 
Sam Katzenstein  Oct. 6, 1880 
Ralph P. Elliott  Nov. 3, 1880 
Edward Downer  Nov. 1, 1882 
Sterling G. Harper 
 (rescinded) Nov. 1, 1894 
Edward Downer  Nov. 1882 
E. E. Downer  March 26, 1902 
John Anderson  June 21, 1902 
 Discontinued Aug. 15, 1902 
R H. H. Moores Jan. 2, 1903 
Lincoln S. Robinson Sept. 22, 1906 
Frank A. Bartlett  Dec. 24, 1906 
Frances C. Rodgers April 19, 1907 
Oscar J. Allen  Sept. 18, 1907 
Daniel Johnson  June 12, 1908
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 HARSHAW   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Harshaw – Pima Co.  (18809-1891; 1893-1895); Santa 
Cruz Co. (1902-1903) 
        
1 C1b1SBbB27½ 
1A EX  (W. F.) 
2 C1bN1B27 
3 C1bN1BBR27½ 
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 Harshaw  Pima County   G. L. O. Map, 1923; Coronado N. F. 1927.  

 Mine on east side Patagonia mountains, on Harshaw creek.  So named for David Te-
cumsdh Harshaw, who settled here, 1875.  “First called “Peach,” Durasno” by the Mexicans be-
cause of venerable peach trees probably planted by some early padre.”  P. O. established April 29, 
1880, Dan R. Gillette, P. M.  

1 
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Post Masters 

 
Dan B. Gillett Jr.  April 29, 1880 
W. F. Mills  1880-1881 W. F. 
Alvah C. Rogers  June 27, 1881 
Mark Ezekiels  Oct. 4, 1881 
M. D. Katz  1881-1883 W. F. 
F. A. Lemont  May 8, 1882 
John W. Abell  May 23, 1882 
John H. Turner  March 7, 1883 
William D. Harrison Aug. 6, 1884 
Nathaniel W. Waite Oct. 20, 1885 
A. Baldwin  1885 
Edwin E. McDonald Jan. 14, 1887 
George M. Norton 
 (not commissioned) June 25, 1889 
Walter Renouf  Jan. 11, 1890 
Alex M. Blair  Oct. 31, 1891 
 Discontinued Dec. 18, 1891 
 Mail to Crittenden 
James McCarty  Jan. 6, 1893 
Kate Hulse  April 4, 1894 
 Discontinued May 24, 1895 
 Mail to Crittenden 
Howell S. Ragsdale Feb. 5, 1902 
Lulu G. Taylor  Sept. 11, 1902 
John Parker (declined) Feb. 5, 1903 
 Discontinued March 4, 1903 
 Mail to Patagonia 

Mill, 1879 
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 HARSHAW   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Harshaw – Pima Co.  (1809-1891; 1893-1895); Santa Cruz 
Co. (1902-1903) 
        
1 C1b1SBbB27½ 
1A EX  (W. F.) 
2 C1bN1B27 
3 C1bN1BBR27½ 
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 Harshaw  Pima County   G. L. O. Map, 1923; Coronado N. F. 1927.  

 Mine on east side Patagonia mountains, on Harshaw creek.  So named for David Te-
cumsdh Harshaw, who settled here, 1875.  “First called “Peach,” Durasno” by the Mexicans be-
cause of venerable peach trees probably planted by some early padre.”  P. O. established April 29, 
1880, Dan R. Gillette, P. M.  

2 
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 HELVETIA   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Helvetia – Pima Co.   (1899-1821) 
        
1 C1bN1B28 
2 4-Bar 
3 C1b´16T1B32 
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Helvetia  Pima County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 In T. 18 S., R. 15 E.  An old silver mine so called by Ben Hefti, local Swiss miner, after 
his native country.  P. O. established December 12, 1889, Charles M. Coon, P. M.  

1 
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Post Masters 

 
Charles M. Coon  Dec. 12, 1899 
Colin A. McLean  June 21, 1900 
John B. Anderson  March 25, 1902 
Colin A. McLean  April 14, 1906 
Georgia R. Thompson July 1, 1911 
 

The town of Helvetia as it appeared from the west around 1910.  (U. S. Geological Survey) 
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 INDIAN OASIS 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Indian Oasis – Pima Co.   (1909-1919) 
        
1 4-Bar 
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Indian Oasis  Pima County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 P. O. established under this name August 11, 1909.  Joseph Menager, P. M.  Name 
changed to sells December 14, 1918.   

Post Masters 
 
Joseph Menager  Aug. 11, 1909 



 ISAACSON 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Isaacson – Pima/Santa Cruz Co.   (1882-1883) Presently 
Santa Cruz Co.) 
        
1 C41eN1RRB34 
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Isaacson  Pima/Santa Cruz County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 P. O. established here May 31, 1882, under this name:  Jacob Isaacson, P. M., had a store 
here.  Site was near present Nogales.  Isaacson wanted to keep the name for the new town but the 
new residents objected. 
 This may have been the same place later called Isaactown, after Hon. Isaac N. Town, q.v. 

Post Masters 
Jacob Isaacson  May 31, 1882 
James Breeden  Dec. 1, 1882 
 Changed to Nogales  June 4, 1883 



 LANGHORNE 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Langhorne – Pima Co.   (1908—1912) 
        
1 4-Bar 
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Langhorne  Pima County   G. L. O. Map; Post Route, 1929. 
 In T. 12 N., R. 12 E.  Settlement on Rillito near S. P. R. R. Railway station named for 
Langhorne family who have homesteads near.  P. O. established April 21, 1908, Catherine E. 
Langhorne, P. M.  

Post Masters 
 
Catherine E. Langhorne  April 21, 1908 
W. A. Langhorne   1909 



 LA NORIA 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    La Noria/Santa Cruz – Pima Co.  (1882-1883); Santa Cruz 
(1910-1911)  
        
1 No post marks reported. 
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La Noria  Pima/Santa Cruz County    
 Sp., “a draw well, one operated with a wheel.”  About 3 miles from Lutterell, where Hol-
land mine smelters were located.  P. O. established July 24, 1882.  Richard Harrison, P. M.  

Post Masters 
 
Richard Harrison  July 24, 1882 
 Discontinued June 11, 1883 
 Mail to Harshaw 



 LA OSA 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    La Osa – Pima Co.   (1865-1899; 1903-1905; 1917-1919) 
        
1 C1bN1BBR28 
2 C1bN1B28 
 

A
ri

zo
na

 T
er

ri
to

ri
al

 P
os

tm
ar

ks
 

La Osa  Pima County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1921. 
 Sp., “the bear.” In T. 22 S., R. 8 E. Ranch at Mexican line. Headquarters La Osa Cattle 
Co., 1885. Known also as the Sturges ranch, after Col. W. S. Sturges, prominent cattleman and 
politician, 1885—1897. 
 “Mr. Ronstadt, of Tucson, states that a Mexican vaquero roped and killed a silver tip bear 
and her cub near where ranch is now located, After that it was always called ‘La Osa’ Ranch.” 
Letter, Fred Winn, Tucson. Sturges was proud of the name and had a bear and three cubs on his 
letter-heads. 
 P. O. established May 28, 1894, James Finley, P. M. Name was changed to San Fernando, 
1919, q.v. 

Post Masters 
 
Paul N. Roth   May 26, 1890 
William S. Sturges  Feb. 16, 1892 
James Finley   May 28, 1894 
 Discontinued  Dec. 15, 1899 
 Mail to Buenos Ayres 
Edward L. Vail   Feb. 24, 1903 
Teofilo E. Aros   April 15, 1904 
 Changed to Sasabe  
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 LOCHIEL 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Lochiel – Pima/Santa Cruz Co.   (1884-1899; Santa 
Cruz  Co. (1899-1905; 1909-1910) 
        
1 C1bN1BBR26 
2 CibN1B27 
3 C1bN1BBR28 
4 C1bN1BBR26 
5 C1bN1BBR27 
5A EX  (WF) 
6 CibN1B28½ 
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Lochiel  Pima/Santa Cruz County   G. L. O. Map, 1892-1921. 
 So named by Colin and Brewster Cameron, who owned the San Rafael land Grant and ran 
a large herd of cattle here.  P. O. established under this name October 6, 1884, Abner B. Elder, 
P.M.  First called La Noria; then Glencoe, q.v. 

Post Masters 
 
Abner B. Elder   Oct. 6, 1884 
Emil Sydow   Jan. 29, 1885 
Clarence J. Graf   Jan. 26, 1887 
 Changed to Rafael March 1, 1888 
Mary Harrison   Jan. 14, 1889 
Clara Scholefield   Nov. 19, 1889 
William H. Dempsey (declined) May 19, 1890 
Lauretta A. Reppy  Sept. 18, 1890 
 Discontinued  April 20, 1893 
 Mail to Washington 
Mary Harrison   June 6, 1893 
Virginia Harrison   Sept. 29, 1893 
Clotilde de la Ossa  Dec. 16, 1897 
Norman H. Chapin  Dec. 8, 189
  
 Order rescinded  March 13, 1900 
Clotilde de la Ossa  Dec. 16, 1897 
Mary A. Chalmers  Oct. 9, 1900 
Mary E. Mix   Aug. 26, 1903 
Abel de la Ossa   Dec. 27, 1904 
 Discontinued  Nov. 30, 1905 
 Mail to Duquesne 
Clotilde B. Carey   Aug. 21, 1909 
 Changed to La Noria Dec. 17, 1909 
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 LUTTRELL 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Luttrell – Pima Co.   (1880-1883) 
        
1 M 
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Luttrell  Pima County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 Mining camp 80 miles southeast Tucson, near the line.  Named after J. K. Luttrell, super-
intendent Holland mines located here.”  Arizona Gazetteer, 1881.  According to post office re-
cords was near La Noria.  P. O. established August 23, 1880, Harrison fuller, P. M.  

Post Masters 
 
Harrison Fuller  Aug. 23, 1880 
L. C. McBain  1880-1881 W. F. 
R. S. Barclay  March 29, 1881 
 Discontinued Feb. 19, 1883 
 Mail to La Noria 
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 MARICOPA WELLS 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Maricopa Wells – Pima Co./Pinal  (1865-1875); Pinal (1875-
1879) 
        
1 M 
2 C1a13S1RRb21½ 
3 C1bA1BBR23½ 

 
 
 
 

A
ri

zo
na

 T
er

ri
to

ri
al

 P
os

tm
ar

ks
 

Maricopa Wells  Pima/Pinal County    
 In sec. 17, T. 3 S., R. 3 E. Early stage and Indian trading station located southwest corner Salt River Ind. 
Res., some 28 miles from Phoenix. South side Gila river 3 miles from Morgans Ferry. About 6 or 8 miles northwest 
of present railroad sta-tion of Maricopa. 
 There was here in the Santa Cruz wash a well of good water which was sold to travelers. Water was raised 
by a mule or ox team at the end of a long rope. The bucket had a trap valve in the bottom, which filled it when low-
ered into the water and emptied it on top when dropped on a long wooden peg in the trough. A Mexican boy drove the 
team with much belaboring and shouting. 
 The military telegraph line had an office here with a branch northward to Phoenix and Prescott. In 1869, 
according to one record, there was a customs house here in charge of Col. Poston. He moved it to Florence, 1871. 
 From all accounts there have been two different points by this name in this vicinity. First, the original Mari-
copa Wells, mentioned above. Second, the present railroad station of Heaton, first called Maricopa, then Maricopa-
ville, and finally Heaton, about 4 or 5 miles west of present Maricopa. They planned to run the branch line to Phoenix 
from Heaton, q. v. Then came the present station of Maricopa on S. P. line at junction of branch road to Phoenix. 
 Barney says that on July 27, 1864, John B. Allen filed a preemption claim on land about this place in the 
Land Office at Tucson. Barney claims this was the first land filing in the ter-ritory. The records, however, do not 
show this to be a fact. First land office in Territory was not opened at Prescott until 1868. Tucson office was not 
opened until 1881. See First U. S. Land Offices, First Homestead Entries, Maricopa, Heaton, Mancopaville. 

Post Masters 
 
Luke D. Chadwick Nov. 21, 1865 
Henry Grinnell  Oct. 15, 1866 
James M. Barney  Jan. 20, 1868 
John S. Carr  July 2, 1869 
James A. Moore  May 16, 1870 
Charles H. Kenyon Jan. 21, 1874 
James A. Moore  June 5, 1874 
C. H. Reed  Aug. 20, 1874 
Mary Jane Moore  Jan. 1, 1875 
Charles Wellhoff  July 29, 1878 
 Changed to Maricopa 

Maricopa Wells station 1874 was primitive.  Standing outside (Left 
to right) are Telegrapher Gearhardt, Stage Manager J. H. Moore, 
Line Rider Billy Baxter, Bookeeper Charlie Naylor and Milt Ward.  
Naylot was SP’s agent at Maricopa. 



 MILLVILLE 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Millville – Pima/Cochise Co.  (1879-1880); Presently 
Cochise Co.) 
        
1 No territorial post marks. 
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Millville  Pima/Cochise County   U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 Listed, Arizona Gazetteer 1881, as “a milling town on San Pedro about 10 miles from 
Tombstone.”  Tombstone Prospector says:  “Here the great mills of the Tombstone Mining and 
Milling Co., and the Tombstone and Corbin Quartz mill were located in 1880.”  Undoubtedly an 
early name for Charleston.   

Post Masters 
 
John B. Allen  May 26, 1879 
 Discontinued May 3, 1880 
David C. Field  1880 W. F.  

Millville, 1880, Arizona Historical Society. 
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 NOGALES   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Nogales – Pima/Santa Cruz Co.   (1883-1889); Santa 
Cruz (1889-present) 
        
1 C21eN1B34 
2 C41eN1B31 
3 EX  (W. F.) 
4 C1bN1BBR27 
5 C1bN1BBR26½ 
6 EX  (W. F.) 
7 C1bN1B26½ 
8 C1bN1B27 
9 C1bA1B30 
9A C1bA1B30 
9B C1bT1B28  
10 C1bT1B28½ 
11 EX  (W. F.) 
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Nogales  Pima/Santa Cruz County  Smith Map, 1879; Eckhoff, 1880; U. 
S. G. S., 1923; G. L. O., 1921. 
 Sp., “Nogal—walnut.” Elevation 3,869 feet. An old settlement first known as “Los No-
gales” postoffice. Known also as “Line City,” then “Isaactown,” “after the owner of one of its sa-
loons,” according to McClintock. 
 Land grant on which town stood was owned by a Topeka Cattle Company, with Isaac N. 
Town, citizen, politician and stockman, as president and general manager. Nogales was the name 
agreed upon in 1882. Nogales, Sp., “walnut trees.” First settlers say stream was lined with these 
trees. When Santa Cruz county was created, Nogales became county seat. Emory, with U. S. 
Boundary commission, held a conference here with Indians June 26, 1853.  
 Morley Avenue, the main street in Nogales, was named after William R. Morley, Chief 
Engineer, A. T. & S. F. R. R. P. O. established Oct. 29, 1897, Albert J. Griswold, P. M. See Isaac-
town and Isaacson. 

12 C1bT1B27½ 
13 C1bN1B27½ 
13A C1b´16T1B27 
14 C1bT1B28½ 
15 SL  (REG) 
16 C1bT1B27½ 
16A C1b´16TB29 
17 C1bT1B29 
17A C16´16TB27 
18 SL  (REG) 
19 C1bT1B30 
20 C31b´17N1B31½ 
21 C31b´17N1RRB30½ 

Post Masters 
 
James Breedon   June 4, 1883 
F. H. Goodwin & Co.  1883-1885 W. F. 
Charles A. Altschul  Aug. 6, 1884 
Sidney W. Carpenter  Oct. 30, 1885 
William Beetle Groseclose  1886-1888 W. F. 
James T. Griffith   May 19, 1887 
J. V. Paul   1889 W. F.  
Clement A. McNear (rescinded) Feb. 20, 1889 
James J. Chatham   April 4, 1889 
Percy Brenton Yates  1890-1892 W. F.  
Albert James Griswold  1892-1895 W. F.  
Thomas J. Wylie   Sept. 28, 1893 
William Frazer Overton  1895-1897 W. F.  
Albert J. Griswold  Oct. 29, 1897 
Earl Lynwood Criswold  1897-1899 W. F. 
William Frazer Overton  1899-1912 W. F. 
James H. Keene   1902 W. F.  
Milton Bohall   Jan. 22, 1903 
Charles L. Fowler  Dec. 12, 1911 

Dr. F. H. Goodwin, P. M. 
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Albert J. Griswold, P.M. 
1892-1895 

William F. Overton, P.M. 
1895-1897 
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 NOONVILLE   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Noonville —  Pima-presently Santa Cruz Co.   (1888-1890) 
        
1 ClbN1BBR27½ 
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Noonville  Pima/Santa Cruz County     
 Mining camp and settlement 18 miles west Nogales and about 3 miles from Mexican line.  
Named after Captain John A. Noon, mining man who located first near Oro Blanco, November, 
1879.  Mover here 1887.   

Post Masters 
 
Alonzo E. Noon   Oct. 31, 1888 
Monroe W. Read (declined) June 6, 1890 
 Discontinued  July 21, 1890 

 

Coronado National Forest, Nogales Office. 

Captain J. J. Noon 
Alonzo Noon 



 OCHOA VILLE   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Ochoaville —  Pima/Cochise Co.  (1879-1881); Cochise Co. 
(1881-1882; 1884-1885) 
        
1 M 
2 C21eN1B23 
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 Ochoaville  Pima/Cochise County   

Post Masters 
 
Esteban Ochoa  Nov. 11, 1879 
 Discontinued Jan. 6, 1882 
Betram H. Peterson May 26, 1884 
 Discontinued Sept. 4, 1885 
 Mail to Charleston 
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 OLDGLORY—OLD GLORY   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Old Glory —  Pima/Santa Cruz Co.   (1895-1910) (1910-1911; 
1914-1915) 
        
1 M 
2 CleS1B27½ 
3 C1bN1BBR28 
4 CibS1B28½ 
4A C1bN1B27 
5 C1bN1B28 
6 C1bN1B27½ 
7 4-Bar 
8 4-Bar 
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Old Glory  Pima/Santa Cruz County  G. L. O. Map. 1921.   
 In T. 22 S., R. 11 E.  Early day mining camp about 2 miles south of Ruby, close to Mexi-
can line.  Mine first called “American Flag.”  When they asked for a P. O. they wanted it named 
for this mine.  Authorities at Washington compromised on Old Glory.  Name first spelled 
Oldglory, one word.  Considerable comment was made and Postal authorities changed it to Old 
Glory.  November 29, 1895.  P. O. established Jan. 15, 1895.  William E. Ward, P. M.  

Post Masters 
 
William E. Ward  Jan. 15, 1895 
James B. McClanahan March 21, 1895 
 Discontinued Feb. 6, 1986 
 Mail to Oro Blanco 
John H. Alexander July 31, 1896 
Herbert B. Dodge  (failed to qualify) April 4, 1898 
John C. Boyd  July 16, 1898 
Charles H. Gould  Feb. 20, 1899 
George B. Williams April 6, 1899 
Elbert S. Kibbe  Nov. 22, 1899 
Charles W. Smith  1902 
James E. Owen (rescinded) Feb. 19, 1903 
Alexander B. Spencer (rescinded)   March 5, 1904 
Elbert S. Kibbe  Nov. 22, 1899 
James N. Pemberton June 8, 1905 
Charles H. O’Neill Aug. 7, 1907 
 Changed to Old Glory 
Charles H. O’Neill Nov. 23, 1909 
 Discontinued Sept. 30, 1911 
 Mail to Oro Blanco 

OLD GLORY: Site:  (1896) unsurveyed, 3 mi. from rte. 
68185, 7 mi. S of Oro Blanco.  “No creeks in country.”  
Population to be supplied “Three hundred in six mining”.  
Postmaster compensation:  1897-$92.35;  1899-$71.40;  
1901-$81.80;  1903-$77.32;  1905-$116.24;  1909=$43. 
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Note:  The Old Glory Post Office was for at least part of its time located in the “Old Glory Store” in Warsaw, Ari-
zona about 1 1/2 miles below the mine of Arizona.  Most assume it was always at the mine. 
These pictures form Ring family and Arizona Historical Society. 

Mrs. A. B. Spencer and son in Olds in from of 
O. G. store and P. O. in about 1903. 

ON right, Old Glory store and post office in Warsaw, Ari-
zona. 

Close up of store and post office 

Old Glory stage carrying Grace Ring in 1905.  Picture taken 
in front of stage station in Arivaca. 

James M. Pemberton post 
master, left at survey post 
on Mexican border below 
Old Glory store, right, mid 
life.  Pictures from 
Pemberton family 



 OLDGLORY—OLD GLORY   
A

ri
zo

na
 T

er
ri

to
ri

al
 P

os
tm

ar
ks

 
G. B. Williams P. M. on left, then Ines Fraser, the rest I have no idea.  Williams owned the El Oro 
mine.  It is possible this is Annie Fraser and Inez sister and husband Fred Steele.  Ines’s husband 
bought the Ruby store with his brother in 1920 and were serving as post master when killed by 
Mexican bandits. 
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FROM:  National Archives and Records Administration, National Archives Trust Fund, P. 
O. Box 199793, Atlanta, GA 30384-0793. 
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FROM:  National Archives and Records Administration, National Archives Trust Fund, P. 
O. Box 199793, Atlanta, GA 30384-0793. 



 OLIVE   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Olive —  Pima Co.  (1887—1892)        
1 C1bN1BBR27½ 
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Olive  Pima County    G. L. O. Map, 1892 
 In T. 17 S., R. 12 E.  West of Santa Cruz river.  After Olive mine located here.  Said to 
have been largest mining camp in Pima county, 1889.  P. O. established March 4, 1887.  Owen J. 
Doyle, P.M. 

Post Masters 
 
Owen J. Doyle  March 4, 1887 
Joseph Goldman  Oct. 23, 1891 
Luke J. Corda (declined) March 2, 1892 
 Discontinued  May 23, 1892 
 Mail to Tucson 
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 ORO BLANCO   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Oro Blanco —  Pima/Santa Cruz Co.  (1879-99); Santa Cruz 
Co. (1899—1903; 1908-15) 
        
1 M 
2 CleS1B27½ 
3 C1bN1BBR28 
4 CibS1B28½ 
4A C1bN1B27 
5 C1bN1B28 
6 C1bN1B27½ 
7 4-Bar 
8 4-Bar 
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Oro Blanco  Pima/Santa Cruz County   
 Sp., “white gold.”  In sec 1, T. 22S., R. 10 E.  Town, southwest part of county.  After the 
mine here.  P. O. established October 2, 1879. 

Postmasters 
 
William J. Ross October 2, 1879 
John Bartlett  December 9, 1881 
Discontinued  April 30, 1903 
   Mail to Old Glory 
Charles O. Foltz June 25, 1908 

ORO BLANCO:  Site:  (1906) 22/22S/10E, Village population 75, total population to be sup-
plied 125.  (1895) On rte. 68164 “Old Glory (new office) 7 miles South, no service employed 
yet.”  Postmaster compensation:  1881-$189.91;  1883-$130.32;  1885-$89.46;  1887-$64.23;  
1889-$54.65;  1895-$212.04;  1897-$179.62;  1899-$98.44;  1901-$60.09; 1909-$93. 
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FROM:  National Archives and Records Administration, National Archives 
Trust Fund, P. O. Box 199793, Atlanta, GA 30384-0793.  1895 
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FROM:  National Archives and Records Administration, National Archives 
Trust Fund, P. O. Box 199793, Atlanta, GA 30384-0793.  1895 
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FROM:  National Archives and Records Administration, National Archives 
Trust Fund, P. O. Box 199793, Atlanta, GA 30384-0793.  1908 
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FROM:  National Archives and Records Administration, National Archives 
Trust Fund, P. O. Box 199793, Atlanta, GA 30384-0793.  1908 
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Various shots of New Oro Blanco. 

New Oro Blanco around 1915, from Mary Noon Kasualitis.  
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Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Pantano —  Pima  (1880-1884; 1886-1952) 
        
1 M 
2 C21bN1RRB27½ 
2A C21bS1RRB30 
3 C1bA2BBR27 
4 C1bN1B27½ 
5 Doane Ty. 3/2r 
6 4-Bar 

Pantano  Pima     
 Station S. P. R. R., 18 miles west of Benson. First called “La Cienega,” SP., “a swamp-marsh-pool of stag-
nant water.” Later Tulleyville, lastly Pantano. Well known early stage station and ranch. 
 Farish says: “W. A. Smith (Shotgun Smith) had a great fight here with Apache Indians in 1867.” 
 “In 1912 it was changed to Empire.” Letter-Supt. S. P. R. R. Ed Vail writes: “The old cemetery at or near 
station was filled with graves of men killed by Indians.” 
 P. O. established as Pantano July 2, 1880, Lyman W. Wakefield, P. M. Origin of Pantano unknown. 
 Cienega-La Cienega on Smith map, 1879; Pantano, G. L. O., 1892-1921. 
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Pinckney R. Tully, P. M. 1880 Post Masters 

 
Lyman W. Wakefield  July 2, 1880 
 Discontinued  Sept. 6, 1880 
Lyman W. Wakefield  Oct. 6, 1880 
Tully Ochoa & Co.  1880 W. F. 
Pinckney Randolph Tully  1880 W. F. 
John O. Dougthety  Nov. 29, 1881 
George S. Safford  1881-1883 W. F.  
L. Freer    1883-1884 W. F.  
Lyman W. Wakefield  Feb. 27, 1884 
John O. Doughtety  April 4, 1884 
 Discontinued  Oct. 29, 1884 
 Mail to Total Wreck  
James T. Carne   1885 W. F. 
Albert E. Carne   1886 W. F.  
Walter L. Vail   Nov. 15, 1886 
 Discontinued  Jan. 15, 1897 
 Mail to Benson 
C. J. Trafton   1887 W. F.  
Walter Swart   1888 W. F. 
W. J. Deckman   1889-1897 
Judson Moores   1898-1902 W. F. 
Thomas Earl Moore  1903 W. F. 
John Frederick Brown  1904-1905 W. F. 
Thomas W. Healy  1906 W. F. 
A. J. Locke   1907 W. F. 
Frank E. Black (declined)  March 20, 1907 
Walter L. Vail Jr.   Sept. 4, 1907 
Frank Ellsworth Black  1907-1909 W. F. 
John W. Purifoy   July 22, 1909 
Guy B. Pannell   1910 W. F. 
T. N. McCandless  1912 W. F.  



PANTANO   
A

ri
zo

na
 T

er
ri

to
ri

al
 P

os
tm

ar
ks

 



PANTANO   
A

ri
zo

na
 T

er
ri

to
ri

al
 P

os
tm

ar
ks

 



PANTANO   
A

ri
zo

na
 T

er
ri

to
ri

al
 P

os
tm

ar
ks

 



PANTANO   
A

ri
zo

na
 T

er
ri

to
ri

al
 P

os
tm

ar
ks

 



1 

 PATAGONIA   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Patagonia —  Pima/Santa Cruz Co.  (1866-1867; Santa Cruz Co. 
1900-present) 
        
1 C1bN1B28 
2 C1bT1B29½ 
3 SL  (REG) 
3A C1b´16T1B28 
4 4-Bar 
5 4-Bar 
6 SL 
7 4-Bar 
 

Patagonia  Pima/Santa Cruz County  G. L. O. Map, 1866, 1921.   
 In T. 22 N., R. 16 E. Original name of Mowry mine, once owned by Capt. Snell, located 
1858. Sold, 1860, to Lieut. Mowry, who changed the name. 
 Station on Sonoita creek and S. P. R. H., north end Patagonia mountains. P. O. established 
May 7, 1866, Chas. E. Mowry, P. K See Mowry. 
 J. Ross Browne says: “Mine first called the ‘Patagonia,’ but when Mowry got possession 
of it, he called it ‘Mowry’s.’” Mowry’s book, Arizona and Sonora, makes the statement that the 
origin of the name Patagonia was to him, Mowry, unknown. 
 F. Brerton, a mining engineer who examined and reported on Mowry’s mines, 1861, says: 
“But why is it called the Patagonia? Is it because it is situated in a desert inhabited by wild Indi-
ans?” 

 

 

 

 

Post Masters 
 
Charles E. Mowry  May 7, 1866 
Richard M. Doss   Dec. 19, 1866  
 Discontinued  June 24, 1867 
J. W. Davis   May 24, 1880 
 Discontinued  Nov. 22, 1880 
Mamie A. Crepin   March 31, 1900 
A. J. Locke   1903 W. F.  
E. Hazzard   1904-1906 W. F.  
A. J. Locke   1906-1907 W. F.  
Clora M. Long   Oct. 3, 1907 
Frank Arthur Stone  1908-1912 W. F.  
Richard J. Curtin   Feb. 4, 1909 
William H, Barnett  May 18, 1910 
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 PIMA   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Pima —  Pima/Graham Co.  (1880—1881); Graham Co. 
(1881—present) 
        
1 C21a2S1RRB31 
1A C1bN1B28 
2 C31eN1RRB27½ 
3 C1bN1BBR26½ 
4 C1b´16T1B26½ 
4A C1bN1B28 
5 C1bN1BBR28 
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Pima  Pima/Graham County  G. L. O. Map, 1921.  
 Mormon settlement of 1879 or 1880.  2 miles below Central on Gila river.  Station Ari-
zona Eastern r. R. in T. 6 S., R. 25 E.  First called Smithville.  Originally in Pima county.  Named 
for Pima Indians.  P. O. established August 23, 1880, Wm. R. Teeples, P. M.  

6 C1bN1BBR28  
7 C1bT1B29 
8 C1bT1B30 
9 4-Bar 
10 4-Bar 
11 C31b´N1B29 

 

Post Masters 
 
William R. Teeples  Aug. 23, 1880 
Harriett Teeples   July 5, 1882 
Stephen F. Wilson  Feb. 19, 1884 
Joseph East   Nov. 23, 1887 
Hybrum W. Weech  Feb. 23, 1892 
Jacob A. Burns   April 123 1893 
Henry G. Boyle   April 9, 1894 
Hyrum W. Weech  June 17, 1898 
David H. Weech   Aug. 24, 1903 
J. R. Hamlin   1903-1906 W. F. 
G. L. Vaughn   1907 W. F. 
B. R. Marks   1907 W. F.  
C. E. McConnell   1908 W. F. 
Mildred Woodward Levy  1908-1910 W. F. 
John Abram Phillips  1911 W. F. 
Robert D. Lansden  1912 W. F.  
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 QUIJOTOA   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Quijotoa —  Pima Co.  (1883—1929; 1936—1942) 
        
1 C31eN1RRB30½ 
2 C1bN1BBR27 
3 C1bN1B27 
4 C1bN1B28 
5 4-Bar 
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 Quijotoa  Pima County    

 Quijotoa's post office was established December 11, 1883 and discontinued August 31, 
1942. Discovered in 1883 by Alexander McKay, the mine responsible for Quijotoa was not all it 
was played up to be. Several thousand people flocked to the town but only a few years later it was 
deserted. There were over 20 saloons yet no jail. Lawbreakers were tied to a tree and shipped off 
the next morning to Tucson. A fire destroyed much of the town in 1889 and today, nothing re-
mains. 
  

Post Masters 
 
Ransom Gibson   Dec. 11, 1883 
Frank A. Stevens   March 21, 1884 
Isaac D. Smith   April 25, 1891 
Don Carlos Pickett  Nov. 17, 1892 
Isaac D. Smith   June 22, 1896 
William T. Day   Jan 4, 1897 
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 REDINGTON   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Redington —  Pima Co.  (1879—1940) 
        
1 M 
2 C1M1B26½ 
3 C1bN1BBR27½ 
4 Doane Ty. 3/1 
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Redington  Pima County  U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 In T. 11 S., R. 18 E. On east slope Santa Catalinas, on San Pedro river. Early ranch and 
post office. 
 “Named after two brothers, Henry and Lem Redfield, who located here, 1875. Lem was 
hung by a mob at Florence, 1883, for alleged part in a stage robbery and killing. They wanted a 
post office, but could not get Redfield so coined the word ‘Redington.’” Letter, Fred W. Lattin. P. 
O. established Oct. 7, 1879, Henry F. Redfield, P. M. Spelled Reddington on some maps.  

Post Masters 
 
Henry T. Redfield  Oct. 7, 1879 
 Discontinued  July 12, 1880 
Charles C. Conrad  Jan. 4, 1881 
Margaret M. Bollen  Jan. 2, 1883 
Phillip S. Patton   March 23, 1892 
John S. Warner   Feb. 1, 1894 
William R. Bennett  April 10, 1900 
Charles H. Bayless  March 9, 1909 
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 ROSEMONT   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Rosemont —  Pima/Co.  (1894—1910) 
        
1 C1bN1B27½ 
2 Doane Ty. 2/2 
3 4-Bar 
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Rosemont  Pima County  U. S. G. S. Map, 1923; Coronado N. F., 1927. 
 T. 18 S., R. 16 E.  Settlement and mining camp.  “For L. J. Rose, who came to this region 
about 1896 from California; bought the McCleary group of mines and sank a fortune in them.  
Born in Scotland; came to U. S. a boy of 16.  Raised and raced the celebrated stallion, 
“Stamboul.”  Died in Los Angeles about 1915.”  Letter, Carl Scholefield, Forest Ranger, Globe.  
P. O. established September 27, 1891, William B. Cleary, P. M.  

 

Post Masters 
 
William B. McCleary  Sept. 27, 1894 
William S. George  Nov. 28, 1896 
John J. Stone   Dec. 27, 1905 
Leo T. J. Stone   1909 
 Discontinued  May 31, 1910 
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 SACATON   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Sacaton —  Pima/Pinal Co.  (1871-1873); Pinal Co. (1876-1877); 
1883-present) 
        
1 M 
2 C41b´1N1B27 
3 C1eSB29½ 
3A C1bN1BBR27½ 
4 C1bN1B28 
5 C1bN1B28½ 
6 4-Bar 

A
ri

zo
na

 T
er

ri
to

ri
al

 P
os

tm
ar

ks
 

Sacaton  Pima/Pinal County  Map, Coronado N. F., 1927. 
 Station and store on San Pedro river in T. 10 S., R. 18 E.  There is another Sacaton on Gila 
river, 16 miles north of casa Grande, q. v. P. O. established September 23, 1895, Nannie B. 
Young, P. M.  

Post Masters 
 
Peter Forbach  Jan. 10, 1871 
 Discontinued March 11, 1873 
John C. Loss  Jan. 3, 1876 
 Discontinued Jan. 5, 1877 
Frank Cummins  Aug. 8, 1883 
Lewis S. Dille  Sept. 1884 
Charles H. Cook  May 3, 1886 
James P. Perkins  Dec. 20, 1886 
Nannie B. Younr  Sept. 23, 1895 
Emma A. Cleveland Aug. 3, 1897 
Emma B. Palmer  Dec. 22, 1898 
William C. Sharp  March 10, 1900 
Naomi M. Hadley July 6, 1901 
Sarah N. Alexander Dec. 5, 1902 
Augustus E. Marden Sept. 22, 1905 
Dirk Lay  July 28, 1911 
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 SAFFORD  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Safford —  Pima/Graham Co.  (1875-1881) Graham Co. 
(1881-present) 
        
1 M 
2 C41eN1B28 
3 CleS1B29½ 
4 C21eN1RRB27½ 
5 C21kN1RRB27½ 
5A C1fS1B32 
6 C1bN1B25  
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Safford  Pima/Grahm County  U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 Elevation 2,914 feet. In T. 7 S., R. 26 E., south bank Gila river. According to McClintock, 
first settled by Americans who came here from Gila Bend, 1872. Joshua E. Bailey, one of them, 
named it for Governor Anson Pacely Killen Safford, then making a tour of the Territory. 
 Safford was county seat Graham county until 1881 when it was moved to Solomonville. 
Later when Greenlee county was created, it was returned to Safford. P. O. established March 5, 
1875, Joshua E. Bailey, P. M. 

7 C1bN1BBR28 
8 C1bT1B28 
9 C1bT1B27½ 
10 C1bT1B27½ 
11 C31b´17N1B30 
11A C1b´16&1B29 
12 C1bT1B29 
13 C1bT1B29½ 
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Main Street, Safford Arizona, 1907, 
from Photographers in Arizona, by 
Jeremy Rowe. 

Post Masters 
 
Joshua E. Bailey  March 5, 1875 
Maggie Patterson  Dec. 9, 1878 
Abraham M. Franklin April 22, 1879 
George H. Stevens June 5, 1882 
 Discontinued March 23, 1883 
 Mail to Solomonsville 
Edward T. Ijams  April 20, 1883 
John B. Groesbeck Feb. 15, 1887 
Alfred Frye  May 2, 1892 
Thomas T. Hunter June 7, 1894 
Kate Tuttle  Aug. 21, 1897 
George Washington Healy 1903 W. F. 
William C. Roundey 1904-1906 W. F. 
Freida F. Mashbir  Jan. 4, 1906 
Charles Pettis Pearson 1907-1910 W. F. 
C. E. McConnell  1910 W. F. 
John Abram Phillip 1912 W. F. 
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SASABE  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Sasabe —  Pima Co.  (1905—1914; 1926—present) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 1/2 
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Sasabe  Pima County  G. L. O., 1892-1921. 
 In T. 28 S., R. 8 E.  In Altar valley, principal port of entry into U. S. from Altar district of 
Sonora.  East side Pozo Verde mountains, about 40 miles northwest of Nogales.  There is a town 
on both sides of line.  Papago word for this place is “Shashoouk” or “Echo.”  Lumholtz says:  
“From best information obtainable, name is that of either an old Mexican or Papago family.”  P. 
O. established August 23, 1905.  Teofilo E. Arros, P.M.  

Post Masters 
 

Teofilo E. Aros  Aug. 23, 1905 
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SILVERBELL  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Silverbell —  Pima Co.  (1904-1911; 1934) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 2/1 
2 Doane Ty. 3/6 
3 C1bT1N29½ 
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Silverbell  Pima County  U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 Mine and mountains in T. 11 S., R. 8 E., at end Arizona Southern R. R. from Red Rock.  
Named for the mine. 
 P. O. established August 18, 1904, Roger W. Warren, P. M., Black, Territorial Commis-
sioner of Immigration, calls it silver Belle in his report, 1890. 

3 
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SILVERBELL  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Silverbell —  Pima Co.  (1904-1911; 1934) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 2/1 
2 Doane Ty. 3/6 
3 C1bT1N29½ 
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Silverbell  Pima County  U. S. G. S. Map, 1923. 
 Mine and mountains in T. 11 S., R. 8 E., at end Arizona Southern R. R. from Red Rock.  
Named for the mine. 
 P. O. established August 18, 1904, Roger W. Warren, P. M., Black, Territorial Commis-
sioner of Immigration, calls it silver Belle in his report, 1890. 

3 
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John Doan, P. M. Silverbell 1909-1910 Post Masters 

 
Robert W. Warren   Aug. 18, 1904 
I. U. Klingerman   1906 W. F.  
J. L. Pope   1906 W. F. 
Thomas Hislop   1907 W. F. 
Ralph Edward Cushman  1907-1908 W. F. 
Guy Lincoln Jones  1908-1909 W. F. 
John Doan   1909-1910 W. F.  
J. A. Farrell   1910 W. F.  
R. P. Menefe   1911 W. F.  
Edward D. Holbrook  July 3, 1911 
 Discontinued  Nov. 15, 1911 
 Mail to Red Rock 
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SOLOMONSVILLE  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Solomonsville —  Pima/Graham Co.  (1878-1881); Graham 
Co. (1881-1950) 
        
1 M 
2 C1s1ON1RRB26½ 
3 C1eN1RRB28½ 
3A C1?N1B24½ 
4 C1bN1BBR27½ 
5 C1bN1BBR27½ 
6 C1bT1B27½ 
6A C1bT1B28 

Solomonsville  Pima/Graham County  G. L. O. Map, 1921. 
 Elevation 3,000 feet. In T. 7 S., R. 27 E. Named after I. E. Solomon, who, 1876, opened a 
store at this point. R. R. Station is Solomon. P. O. Guides and some maps have it Solomonsville. 
 In 1883, county seat was moved from Safford to this place, but moved back again in 1915. 
According to a writer in the Globe Silver Belt, William Kirkland, then mail carrier between 
Clifton and this place, gave it the name Solomonville for his friend Solomon. P. O. established 
April 10, 1873, I. E. Solomon, P. M. See Pueblo Viejo. 

7 C1bT1B27½ 
7A EX  (WF)  St Ln 
8 C1bT1B30 
9 C1bT1B28 
9A C1´bT128 
10 C1bT1B28½ 
11 SL  (REG) 
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SOLOMONSVILLE  

Ernest W. Clayton P. M. Solomonsville, 1903 Post Masters 
 
Isadore E. Solomon  April 10, 1878 
Pedro Michelena   June 11, 1894 
Charles C. Belknap  Oct. 27, 1898 
Edmund G. Kinyon  Sept. 19, 1902 
Robert Warren Smith  1904-1906 W. F. 
Ernest W. Clayton  1903 W. F.  
Norma M. Clark   Oct. 29, 1906 
John William Arnold  1907-1908 W. F. 
J. T. Campion   1908 W. F. 
P. H. McGuire   1909-1910 W. F. 
J. A. Wardlaw   1910-1911 W. F. 
C. E. McConnell   1912 W. F.  
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TANQUE VERDE  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Tanque Verde —  Pima Co.  (1900—1909)  
        
1 CibN1BBR27 
 

Tanque Verde  Pima/Cochise County  
 Sp., “green tank.”  In T. 14 S., Rs. 16, 17 E.  In Coronado N. F. at southern end Santa Cata-
lina mountains, directly east of Tucson some 20 miles.  Roskruge calls these mountains “Agua 
Verde range,”  on his map. 

Post Masters 
 
Manuel L. Martinez  Dec. 1, 1888 
 Discontinued  March 26, 1892 
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TERMINUS 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Terminus —  Yuma; Maricopa; Pinal; Pima; Cochise Cos. 
(1879—1881)          
 
1 C1bA1BBR27½ 
 
Traveling P. O. at head of S. P. R. r. east from 
Yuma-Deming N. M.  

Terminus  Yuma; Maricopa; Pinal; Pima; Cochise   
 Station, 1880, at end of track about 15 miles east of Maricopa station, S. P. R. R.  P. O. es-
tablished July 31, 1879, Charles Dane, P.M. 

Post Masters 
 
Frank B. Wightman  Jan. 27, 1879 
Charles H. Dane   July 31, 1879 
 Changed to Deming, N. M. March 16, 1881 
 Discontinued   April 11, 1881 
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TOMBSTONE  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Tombstone —  Pima/Cochise Co.  (1878-1881); Cochise Co. 
(1881-present) 
        
1 C1bN1BBR25½ 
2 EX  (W. F.) 
3 C13S1B27 
4 C1eS1B29 
5 C1bA1B28 
6 SL  (REG) 
7 C1bN1B27 
7A M  (REG) 
8 C21aS1BRB33 
9 C1cT1B28 
10 C1bT1B27 
11 C1b´16T1B27½ 
12 EX  (W. F.) 
13 C1bT1B28½  
14 C1bT1B28½ 
15 SL  (REG) 
16 EX  (REG) 
Tombstone  Pima/Cochise County  
 Elevation 4,536 feet. County seat, Cochise county, up to 1931, when it was removed to Bis-
bee. On branch E. P. & S. W. R. R. from Fairbank. In Mule mountains. Mine discovered, 1878, by 
Ed Schieffelin. Before leaving with his brother Al to prospect in Mule mountains he was advised 
not to go, for “all he would find would be his tombstone.” So he named his mine “The Tomb-
stone,” which went for the camp later on. This origin is generally accepted.   
 However, listen to this: “Ed Schieffelin had no hand in the name. I was present at the meet-
ing in May, 1878, when Tombstone was named. Schieffelin was not at the meeting. It was held at a 
place called ‘Water Well’ near where Schieffelin’s monument now stands. Col. Whiteside, Lieut. 
Winchester, Murphy, McDowell, Reynolds, myself and a few others. Some one suggested 
‘Epitaph,’ some ‘Graveyard,’ we finally adopted Tombstone because of the peculiar form of gran-
ite rocks here which stand out like tombstones in the moonlight.” Max Marks in Tucson Star, 50th 
Anniversary Edition, 1927. 
 I fear Max came into this picture far too late to gain much credence for his story. At that, 
the rocks he mentions do resemble tombstones, in the dark—if one has sufficient imagination. 
 Tombstone was the original of Lewis’ Wolfville. He speaks of the Bird Cage Theatre and 
other places which identify it. P. O. established Dec. 2, 1878, Richard Gird, P. M. John P. Clum, 
editor of Epitaph, became postmaster, June 4, 1880. 

17 C1bN1B27½ 
17A EX (Tomstone&Oso Negro) 
18 C1bT1B28½ 
19 SL  (REG) 
20 C1bT1B28 
21 C1bT1B27½ 
22 C1bT1B29 
23 C1bT1B28 
24 C1bT1B29 
25 C1bT1B30 
25A C31b´17N1B30 
26 EX  (W. F.) 
27 C1bT1B30 
27A C1b´16T1B29 
28 C31b´16TN1RRB31 
29 C31b´17N1B28½ 
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TOMBSTONE  

FROM:  Wells Fargo in Arizona Territory. 

Charles A. Fisk, P. M. 
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TOMBSTONE  

Post Masters 
 
Richard Gird  Dec. 2, 1878 
George M. Perine  May 3, 1880 
John P. Clum  June 4, 1880 
Marshall Williams 1880-1881 W. F.  
F. E. Brooks  Dec. 15, 1881 
J. M. Seibert  1882 W. F.  
Henry M. Ellsworth 1883-1885 W. F. 
John P. Clum  Jan. 20, 1885 
Charles S. Clark  Oct. 5, 1885 
Martin Demaret Scribner 1885-1888 W. F.  
E. L. McClure  1889 W. F.  
William A. Harwood Jan. 16, 1890 
Martin Demaret Scribner 1890-1908 W. F.  
Emil Sydow  June 23, 1894 
Thomas J. Ryan  Dec. 8, 1897 
Charles Atwood Fisk 1907-1908 W. F.  
Laura G. Crable  April 2, 1898 
Francis D. Crable  Feb. 3, 1908 
W. F. Seidel  1909-1910 W. F. 
Edwin J. Westervelt 1911-1912 W. F.  

1881. 
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4 & 8 

TOMBSTONE  

Famous miner from area. 
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TOMBSTONE  
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TOTAL WRECK  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Total Wreck — Pima Co.  (1881—1899)      
 
1 C41eN1RRB27 
 

Tucson Pima County   G. L. O. Map, 1892. 
 In sec. 3, T. 18 S., R. 17 E.  Early day mine about 9 miles south Pantano.  Ed Vail says:  
“Mine received its name when John T. Dillon, who discovered it, came to my brother Walter in 
1881 to get him to make out his recording papers.  Walter asked him for a name.  Dillon said”  
“Well, the mineral formation is almost a total wreck,” alluding to the mixed formation.  That’s its 
name, Total Wreck,’ said my brother.”  P. O. established August 12, 1881.  Nathan R. Vail, P. M.  

Post Masters 
 
Nathan R. Vail  Aug. 12, 1881 
Edward B. Salsig  Dec. 12, 1882 
Melbourne P. Dodge Feb. 4, 1884 
Melburne P. Dodge Sept. 2, 1885
  
 Discontinued June 9, 1888 
 Mail to Pantano 
John O’Dougherty Feb. 2, 1889 
 Discontinued Nov. 1, 1890 
 Mail to Pantano 
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TRES ALAMOS  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Tres Alamos —  Pima/Cochise Co. (1874-1881); Cochise Co. 
(1881-1886) 
 
1 C1eN1R28 
 

Tres Alamos  Pima/Cochise County  Smith map, 1879. 
 Sp., “three cottonwoods.”  Sometimes called “Dunbars.”  Bourke says it was owned by a 
man named Montgomery.  On San Pedro river, 35 miles east of Tucson.  Well known station on 
Butterfield stage line.  When author was here in February, 1880, ranch house was under some huge 
cottonwoods.  There was also a military telegraph station with a repairman to look after line.  P. O. 
established December 2, 1874, John Montgomery, P. M.   
  

Post Masters 
 
John Montgomery  Dec. 2, 1874 
Thomas Dunbar   Aug. 30, 1875 
Ohnesorgen & Walker  1879 W. F. 
 Discontinued  Sept. 15, 1886 
 Mail to Benson 
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TUBAC   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Tubac —  Dona Ana Co. N. M. Terr. (1859-1863); Pima Co. 
(1865-1887); Santa Cruz Co. (1904-1942 )       
1 M 
1A C1bA1BBR26 
2 SL 
3 C21eN1RRB27 
4 Doane Ty. 2/1 
 

Tubac  Dona Ana/Pima/Santa Cruz County  
 Town on Santa Cruz river. Was a Presidio in 1752; a pueblo and mission, 1814-24. Lies in extreme northwest 
corner of Baca Land Grant No. 5. 
 Hodge says: “The word means ‘adobe house’ or ‘round house ruins.’ it is a settlement of Pima and Papago 
Indians on west bank of Santa Cruz about 45 miles south of Tucson.” Coues says: “So called from the numerous ru-
ined pueblos near it. The word means a house, or a ruined house.” 
 “Most writers agree that ‘Bac’ was a word commonly used in conjunction with other names as ‘San Xavier 
del Bac.’ Tubac appears to have very little history back of 1752, nor does it ap-pear on Kino’s maps. In 1757, it con-
tained 411 inhabitants; in 1848, about 250. In 1866, California Volunteers had a camp here called Camp Tubac.” 
 Hinton says: “Tubac was headquarters for Santa Rita Mining Co., 1860-63.” J. Ross Browne Visited Tubac, 
1853. He writes:  “We found the old town of Tubac abandoned by its Mexican garrison. As the houses were good we 
occupied them during the ensuing winter, passing the time exploring the country. It had probably 150 silver mines 
within a radius of 16 miles. They have not been worked for 50 years.” He returned, 1863, and wrote:  “It is now a city 
of ruins and desolation.” 
 Pumpelly, who visited it Oct., 1860, says: “A ride of 14 miles brought us to the old Spanish military post of 
Tubac. The ruins of the old village were occupied by a small mixed population of Mexicans and Americans, while 
nearly a hundred or more Papago Indians had raised a temporary camp of well-built reed lodges.” 
 Cozzens was there 1858-59. He says: “The very elite of Arizona call Tubac their home. It had then some 800 
people, one-sixth of whom were Germans who came from Germany to make homes in Arizona. A very attractive place 
with its peach orchards and pomegranates.” There was also a small German colony near Tumacacori, q. v. The old 
records of Tubac, kept by Charles D. Poston, are now in County Recorder’s office in Tucson. They in-clude original 
certificates of Poston’s appointment as alcalde, signed by the governor of New Mexico, Tubac then being a part of that 
territory. A weekly newspaper, The Arizonian, was started in Tubac, 1858, printed on a press brought by Wrightson 
brothers of the Santa Rita Co. to Mazatlan and hauled overland from there to Tubac. Was the first press brought into 
the territory and first newspaper printed there. Ed Cross was editor. 
 According to Bartlett, Mormons located a colony here, 1851, before the Gadsden Purchase, but did not re-
main long. He calls it “a God-forsaken place of dilapidated huts and buildings and an equally ruinous church.” 
McClintock writes interestingly of this place. 
 Official records at Washington show many changes in Tubac post office. When opened, Tubac was in Doña 
Ana county, New Mexico. First P. O. established Feb. 21, 1859, Frederick Hulseman, P. M. Discontinued Oct. 24, 
1860. Reestablished Jan. 1861, Theodore Mohrucan, P. M. Discontinued again Feb. 1863. Opened July 13, 1865 as in 
Pima county, Arizona, W E. Herrick, P. M. These changes were due of course to Civil War troubles. 

Post Masters 
William E. Herrick  July 13, 1865 
Henry Jenkins   Dec. 14, 1865 
Pedro Herraraz   Dec. 19, 1866 
Thomas M. Yerkes  July 24, 1867 
Alphonzo Rickman  June 10, 1873 
Thomas Lillie Mercer  March 26, 1877 
Oliver P. Kimberley  Sept. 9, 1879 
Thomas Lillie Mercer  Jan. 13, 1880 
T. Lillie Mercer   1881 W. F. 
 Discontinued  Sept. 6, 1877 
 Mail to Calabazas 
John F. Black   July 20, 1889 
 Never in operation-discontinued April 10, 1891 
 Mail to Calabazas 
James Cowan   Sept. 22, 1904 
 Changed to Tumacacori July 14, 1905 
 Order rescinded  Sept. 12, 1905 
James Cowan   Sept. 22, 1904 
William Lowe   Oct. 24, 1905 
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TUCSON  

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Tucson —  Dona Ana Co. N. M. Terr. (1856-1863); Pima Co. 
(1863-present)       
A M (1 & 2) in New Mexico Catalogue 
1 C1aA1R32 
2 C1jA1BBR25½ 
3 C1hA1BBR24 
3A C1hAT10BBR24 
4 C1bA1BBR24½ 
4A C1bA1BBR23½ 
5 C1bA1BBR25½ 
6 C1bA1bbr26 
7 OC1jNBBR25 
7A EX  (A. & N. M.) 
8 C1bA1BBR25½ 
8A EX  (W F) C1bA1BBR25½ 
9 C1bN1BBR27 
10 C1bN1B26 
11 C1bN1BBR27 
12 SL  (REG) 
13 C1jN1B27  
14 EX  (W. F.) 
15 C1bT1B27½ 
15A EX  (Ped. Aguire) 
15B C1b´16N1B26 
15C EX  (Tucson & Tomb) 
16 C21b´13T17N1B3327 
17 C1bT1B27 
17A SL  (REG) 

Tucson  Dona Ana/Pima County  
 Elevation 2,374 feet. On Santa Cruz river. County seat, Pima county. On S. P. H. R. Hodge and Coues both agree that 
name comes from the Piman “Sluyk-son,” meaning a dark or brown spring. Originally it was probably a Papago word. Papagoes say 
“styuk” for black, and “zone” or “son” for foot or base of a hill; or near a spring. There was a Papago village in early days just 
across valley from Tucson at foot of what is today known as Sentinel peak, which they called by this name, Styuk-zone. See also 
Papago village of Little Tucson or Tucsonsito. Name has been variously spelled. Arricivita spelled it Tugson; Gen. Cooke spelled it 
Teuson, 1846; Emory, 1847, Tucson. 
 Franciscans in Arizona says: “Fr. Marcos visited Tucson, 1539. Kino, 1692; Garces saw it first, 1775. It was called Presi-
dio of San José de Tucson.” This work further says: “The Visita of San José de Tucson is situated 6 leagues north of San Xavier. A 
visita of Bac since 1763 it was still without either church or priest in 1772.” 
 Kino located a settlement on his map which he called Tucsonimo. Bolton says, however: “this was a village on the Gila 
above Casa Grande which was called ‘Encarnación’ and said to have been some 26 leagues north of San Xavier.” 
 Coues quotes Hodge as follows: “Its (Tucson’s) settlement by Spaniards is reputed to date from 1560 but there is little 
doubt that it became a Spanish settlement not earlier than 1776. Before that time it was a Rancheria probably of mixed Pima, Pa-
pago, and Sobaipuri peoples. From 1763 it was regularly visited as San Juan de Tucson by the Missionary of San Xavier del Bac. In 
1776, Presidio of Tubac was transferred there and name ‘San Augustin de Tucson’ applied. Its alleged great antiquity as a Spanish 
settlement is a fable. 
 “We have the first definite knowledge of Tucson as a ‘RancherIa de Visita’ of Bac mission, 1763. Tucson was doubtless 
second settlement by Europeans in United States with Santa Fe first by a few years, and St. Augustine, Florida, third. In 1848 popu-
lation of Tucson was 760 persons, whites, Indians, and all.” 
 Tucson was occupied by U. S. troops, 1856. August 16, 1856, a convention was held there to organize the Territory of 
Arizona as a political entity. Town was occupied by Confederate troops from Feb. to May, 1862. Tucson became capital Nov. 1, 
1867, and held it until 1877. 
 Regarding the age of Tucson, Dr. Frank C. Lockwood writes:  “Close study of Tucson’s history indicates it was first 
viewed by European  eyes in 1694. Shows first time on a map 1698 and was first established as a European town 1776.” 
 Records U. S. Land Office show that in 1872 town bought two of government land for a town site paying $800 a section. 
 Donald Page in Arizona Historical Review gives an interesting of first military occupation of Tucson, Dec. 1846. J. Ross 
Browne visited Tucson, 1864, as a government official. His account of what he saw is worth reading. 
 First P. 0. established Dec. 4, 1856, Elias Brevort, P. M. Was then Doña Ana county, New Mexico, and first post office 
established in what is now Arizona. See Revanton. Office closed Tucson  March 17, 1880. A post office called Tucson in Ross 
count, 12, miles east of Chillicothe, was established May 10, 1896,Zachariah Hines, P. M.  No one can tell us how this name was 
transplanted to Ohio. 

18 C1bT1B27½ 
19 EX  (W. F.) 
20 C1bT1B27½ 
21 C1bT1B28½ 
22 C1bT1B28½ 
23 C1b´16T1B27 
24 C1bT1B28 
25 C1b´T8B25 
26 SL  (REG) 
27 EX  (W. F.) 
28 SL  (REG) 
29 C1b´T6B25 
30 C1b´T9B23 
31 C1bT19B23 
32 C31b´17N1B29½ 
33 C1b´T9B23 
34 C1b´T9B24 
35 C1bT7B25 
36 C1b´16T6B29 
37 C1bT6B22½ 
38 C1bT6B22½ 
39 C31b´17N1B31 
40 C31b´17N1B30 
41 C1bT7B25 
42 C31b’17N1B33 
43 C31b´15N1RRB28½ 
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Pre-Territorial Post Offices 
 
Tucson:   
 Elias Brevoort Dec. 4, 1856 
     Changed to Fort Buchanan June 5, 1857 
 Mark Aldrich Nov. 11, 1857 

Post Masters 
 
William Sanders Oury  1860-1861 W. F.  
Hiram Walter Read  Aug. 25, 1863 
Mark Aldrich   July 13, 1865 
D. H. Stickney   Nov. 1, 1865 
John B. Allen   June 5, 1866 
Charles H. Myers   Dec. 19, 1866 
Wheeler W. Williams  March 19, 1867 
Charles H. Lord   Sept. 24, 1869 
Frank Staples   1877-1878 W. F.  
Claude Anderson   1878-1880 W. F.  
M. B. Van Fleet   1880-1883 W. F.  
George Thomas Martin  1883-1884 W. F.  
M. P. Freeman   Jan. 8, 1884 
William B. Groseclose  1884-1886 W. F.  
William Frazer Overton  1886-1895 W. F. 
Calvin A. Elliott   Jan. 10, 1887 
J. Knox Corbett   March 24, 1890 
Charles D. Groff   Oct. 28, 1893 
Thomas A. Wood   1895-1902 W. F. 
Thomas Hughes (not confirmed) Sept. 18, 1897 
George W. Cheyney  June 13, 1898 
J. Knox Corbett   June 30, 1902 
Charles Ellsworth Hutchison 1902-1910 W. F. 
Stephen Roemer   1911-1912 W. F.  
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William F. Overton, P.M. 1886-1895 
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TUCSON  

FROM:  Tucson Citizen, February 24, 1951,  Arizona 
Album by Albert R. Buehman. 
 
Journey’s End For Weary Travelers OF Stagecoach Era 

 
This is the stagecoach depot which visitors to Tucson found 
on their journey's end, back in the 1870’s and early 1880’s.  
It was located on the southwest corner of West Pennington 
and Pearl streets, a block west of Main street on the way to 
the early-day Levins park or Park Brewery. 
 
The photo shown here was taken prior to 1884.  This build-
ing served as a model for the stagecoach depot (still stand-
ing) in the Old Tucson set.  Later the building served as a 
residence. 
 
Of interest is the old gas lamp on the corner, reminiscent of 
the old lamplighter and his bygone era.  Gas was installed in 
Tucson in the early 1880’s.  Issac Fried was superintendent 
of the gas plant.  (Courtesy of Henry Buehman Memorial 
collection.) 

FROM:  Tucson Citizen, February 12, 1951,  Arizona Al-
bum by Albert R. Buehman.  Repeated in 1970s. Depar-
ture Of Stage Big Event In Old Days 

 
Here’s a party of hardy souls ready for a big adventure in 
traveling in the style used in the 89’s and 90’s.  This is the 
stage about to depart from Tucson. 
 
The first stagecoach station here was at the southwest corner 
of West Pennington and Pearl Street about a block west of 
Main street.  Later at the time this picture was taken, the stage 
depot was located next to Lord & Williams, at the southeast 
corner of Congress and Main streets, at which time C. B. ses-
sions was agent. 
 
Stages ran from Tucson to Tombstone and to Quijotoa on the 
slope of the Ben Nevis Mountain on the Ajo Road, Yuma, 
Oro Blanco, which also included Arivaca and other points.  
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1 

TWIN BUTTES 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Twin Buttes —  Pima Co.  (1906—1930) 
        
1 4-Bar 
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Twin Buttes  Pima County  G. L. O. Map, 1923. 
 In T. 18 S, R. 12 E.  Two outstanding buttes; also town at end of short spur leaving No-
gales branch, S. P. R. R., at Sahuarita (sic) station.  P. O. established December 29, 1906, Earl B. 
Rose, P. M.  

1 
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Post Masters 

 
Earl B. Rose   Dec. 29, 1906 
Perry Wildman   Aug. 9, 1907 
Albert L. Wordell   Jan. 4, 1908 
John G. Baxter   Feb. 23, 1911 
 

1905 AHS 



TWIN BUTTES 
A

ri
zo

na
 T

er
ri

to
ri

al
 P

os
tm

ar
ks

 



VAIL 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Vail —  Pima Co.  (1901—present) 
        
1 C1bN1B28½ 
2 4-Bar 
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 Vail  Pima County  Map, S. P. R. R. Sept.,  1930; G. L. O. 1921. 

 Station S. P. R. R., 20 miles east of Tucson, between Empire and Rita stations. Established 
1881. After Walter Vail of Vail and Gates, cattlemen of this region as early as 1880. Walter Vail had the distinction 
of recovering from the bite of a Gila monster he had captured on the round-up, May 10, 1890. Supposing the animal 
dead he tied it to his saddle. Feeling back as he rode to make sure it was there Vail put two fingers into the animal’s 
mouth. The jaws closed like a vise. He rode several miles to camp where it was necessary to dissect the jaws to get 
the fingers loose. Vail suffered severely but recovered. A year later he was killed in a street car accident in Los Ange-
les. 
 There is another station by this name on adjacent E. P. & S. W. R. R. between Esmond and Pantano stations 
20 miles east of Tucson. About 3 miles north of other Vail station. 

Post Masters 
 
Harry A. Mann   Feb. 26, 1901 
Harry A. Mann   1903-1906 W. F.  
Otto W. H. Schley  Oct. 16, 1905 
Andrew C. Duffy   March 2, 1907 
William Noble   1907 W. F. 
Andrew C. Duffy   1908-1912 W. F.  
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WASHINGTON 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Washington  —  Pima Co./Santa Cruz Co.   (1880-1882; 1884-
1899); Santa Cruz Co. (1899-1904) 
        
A CibN1BBR27 
1 C1bN1BBR28 
2 C1bN1B28 
3 CibT1B29 
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 Washington  Pima/Santa Cruz Co.  G. L. O. Map, 1892-1921. 

 In sec. 35, T. 23 S., R. 16 E.  Early day mining camp in San Antonio canyon, east side 
Patagonia mountains, about 2 miles northeast of Mount Washington.  “First mine here was called 
the Washington by its discoverer.”  P. O. established May 13, 1880, William B. Hopkins, P.M. 

Post Masters 
 
J. R. Allen   1880-1881 W. F.  
William B. Hopkins  May 13, 1880 
Josiah T. Joyner   Jan. 26, 1881 
Richard Harrison   Dec. 8, 1881 
 Discontinued  April 26, 1882 
 Mail to Harshaw 
David Allen   May 1, 1884 
 Changed to Duquesne June 6, 1890 
 Order rescinded  Oct. 28, 1890 
David Allen   May 1, 1884 
Frank A. Stevens   June 16, 1898 
Charles A. Bankerd  Jan. 28, 1899 
John R. Michael   July 9, 1902 
 Discontinued  May 31, 1904 
 Mail to Lochiel 
 Order rescinded  May 27, 1904 
Ada H. Martin   July 1, 1904 
 Order rescinded  July 16, 1904 
 Changed to Duquesne Aug. 17, 1904 
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WILCOX 

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Wilcox —  Pima/Cochise Co.  (1880-1881); Cochise Co. 
(1881-1889) 
        
A SL 
1 C22e´13S1B30½ 
2 C1bN1B27 
3 C1bN1B27½ 
4 SL  (REG) 
Wilcox Pima/Cochise County    
 Elevation 4163 feet, first named Maley then Wilcox then Willcox.  First P.O. October 19, 
1880 changed to Willcox November 23, 1889. 

5 C21e13SS1RRB30 
6 SL (REG) 
7 C21e13S1RRB33 
8 C21e13S1RRB33 
9 SL  (REG) 

1 
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WILCOX 

Post Masters 
 
Augustus F. Burke  Oct. 19, 1880 
Thomas S. Williams  April 26, 1881 
Delos H. Smith   Sept. 28, 1881 
George R. King   Oct. 2, 1889 
 Changed to Willcox 



 
 
 
 

Santa Cruz  
County 

 
 

Collection 



Index of Arizona Territorial —Santa Cruz Co. 

Canille   Santa Cruz 
Duquesne  Santa Cruz 
Elgin   Santa Cruz 
Mowry   Santa Cruz 
    

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bold means we have some postmarks from this town.  Underline means we have one of all that towns postmarks.  Italics means there are 
no known postmarks from this town.  Red means we are actively collecting this town from these counties, Cochise, Pima and Santa Cruz. 
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FROM:  http://www.ghosttowns.com/states/az/azsantacruz.html 



 CANILLE   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Canille – Santa Cruz Co.   (1904—1924) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 2/1 
2 4-Bar  
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Canille  Santa Cruz County  G. L. O. Map, 1879.   
 In T. 21 S., R. 18 E. “Canela,” Sp., “cinnamon.” South of Babocomari grant. When this 
small range was in Mexico, prior to the Gadsden purchase, they were known as the ‘Canela hills’ 
because from the south they have a light brown color, similar to the spice named. “I moved here 
in 1904 and asked for a P. O. to be called ‘Canille.’ This spelling was mine, there being no known 
spelling of the name and none of the few settlers knew how, or why, these hills were so spelled. 
Name was approved and P. O. established. Later the Forest Service set aside a Ranger Station site 
here, as Canela.” Letter, Robert A. Rodgers, ex-Forest Ranger. Canela was later changed, offi-
cially to Canelo. Either is correct Spanish for this name. P. 0. established as Canille Aug. 22, 
1904, Robert A. Rodgers, P. M. Canelo, decision U. S. G. B., 1903. 

Post Masters 
 

Robert A. Rodgers  Aug. 22, 1904 
Anna E. Rodgers   May 15, 1906 

School house, from Tom McCurnin. 
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 DUQUESNE   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Duquesne – Santa Cruz Co.  (1904—1920) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 2/1  
2 4-Bar 
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Duquesne  Santa Cruz County  G. L. O. Map, 1921; Coronado N. F., 1927.
 In sec. 2, T. 24 S., R. 16 E.  Old mining camp east side Patagonias about 4 miles from 
Mexican line. 
 “Named by Westinghouse interests after Fort Duquesne original name of Pittsburgh, Pa.  
This Pittsburg company had some claims at this point many years ago.”  Letter, Fred Croxen, For-
est Ranger, P. O. established Aug. 17, 1904, Charles A. Bankhead, P. M.     

Post Masters 
 
James O. Stanford  June 6, 1890 
 Order rescinded  Oct. 28, 1890 
Charles A. Bankerd  Aug. 17, 1904 
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 ELGIN   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Elgin – Santa Cruz Co.   (19010—present) 
        
1 M  
2 4-Bar 
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Elgin  Santa Cruz County   G. L. O. Map, 1921.   
 In T. 20 S., R. 18 E.  Town and Station on Calabasas-Fairbanks Branch r. R.  On Sonoita 
creek.  P. O. established Feb. 12, 1910, Reubin (sic) E. Collis, P.M. 

Post Masters 
 

Reuben B. Collie  Feb. 12, 1910 
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3 3 
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 MOWRY   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Mowry – Santa Cruz Co.   (1905—1913) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 3/2 
2 4-Bar 
3 SL  (REG) 
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Mowry  Santa Cruz County    
 Old mining camp, Patagonia mountains about 20 miles east of Calabasas. Named after 
Lieut. Sylvester Mowry, U. S. Army, who in 1857 was elected first and again 1859, second dele-
gate Congress, but not admitted. Mine discovered, 1857, called Patagonia. Bought by Mowry, 
1860. Seized by Gen. Carleton.  1862, who charged Mowry with disloyalty and confined him in 
Yuma. Released, Nov. 4, 1862, but eventually lost his mine Mowry graduated from West Point, 
1852. Resigned, 1859, while stationed at Fort Yuma. See McFarland for Mowrys history. Smith 
map, 1879, calls it Mowry; also Eckhoff, 1880. G. L. 0. map, 1892, calls it Old Mowry Mine; G. 
L. 0., 1921, Mowry. 

1 
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 MOWRY   

Town   
Type   Postmark Code    Mowry – Santa Cruz Co.   (1905—1913) 
        
1 Doane Ty. 3/2 
2 4-Bar 
3 SL  (REG) 
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Mowry  Santa Cruz County    
 Old mining camp, Patagonia mountains about 20 miles east of Calabasas. Named after 
Lieut. Sylvester Mowry, U. S. Army, who in 1857 was elected first and again 1859, second dele-
gate Congress, but not admitted. Mine discovered, 1857, called Patagonia. Bought by Mowry, 
1860. Seized by Gen. Carleton.  1862, who charged Mowry with disloyalty and confined him in 
Yuma. Released, Nov. 4, 1862, but eventually lost his mine Mowry graduated from West Point, 
1852. Resigned, 1859, while stationed at Fort Yuma. See McFarland for Mowrys history. Smith 
map, 1879, calls it Mowry; also Eckhoff, 1880. G. L. 0. map, 1892, calls it Old Mowry Mine; G. 
L. 0., 1921, Mowry. 

2 
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Post Masters 

 
Violet Van Norman (declined) June 23, 1905 
Dorette D. Davis   Aug. 26, 1905 
Elizabeth Leitch (declined) Sept. 18, 1906 
John W. Prout Jr.   Nov. 30, 1906 
Orton Phelps   Dec. 27, 1907 
 
 


